

Comisiwn Democratiaeth a Ffiniau Cymru

Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru

Draft annual remuneration report 2026 - 2027

dbcc.gov.wales remuneration@dbcc.gov.wales



Contents

Foreword	3
Chapter 1. Introduction	4
Resettlement payments	4
Senior roles	4
Community and town councils (CTC)	4
Corporate Joint Committees (CJC)	5
Co-opted and lay members	5
Link with the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE)	5
Engagement	5
Chapter 2. Determinations for 2026-27	6
Determination 1/2026: Basic salary for elected members of principal councils	6
Determination 2/2026: Salaries paid to senior, civic and presiding members of principal councils	6
Determination 3/2026: Salaries for Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) member	s 8
Determination 4/2026: Payments to NPA and FRA members	8
Determination 5/2026: Co-opted members of principal councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities and lay members of Corporate Joint Committees	
Determination 6/2026: Payments to community and town council (CTC) members	9
Chapter 3. Summary of determinations for 2026-27	11
Chapter 4. Current determinations from previous years	12
What hannens next	18

The Commission welcomes correspondence and telephone calls in Welsh or English.

Mae'r ddogfen ar hon ar gael yn y Gymraeg.

This document has been translated into Welsh by Calan.

Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru
4th Floor
Welsh Government Building
Cathays Park
CARDIFF
CF10 3NQ

Foreword

Welcome to the Draft Annual Remuneration Report of the Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru, setting the determinations on pay, expenses and benefits for members of principal councils, community and town councils, fire and rescue authorities and national park authorities from 1 April 2026. It is important that we recognise the contribution of those who represent us. This area of work contributes to the wider role of the Commission in supporting the democratic health of Wales.

You can find more about the Commission on our website <u>Democracy and Boundary</u> <u>Commission Cymru | DBCC</u>.

This is the first draft report since this important area of work was added to our remit. This role previously resided with the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. I would like to thank the Panel members for handing over a robust remuneration framework and to also thank them and the Welsh Government for their support in the transfer of the work to the Commission.

My thanks also go the secretariat to the Commission who have supported this work area, and the production of the draft report.

The coming year will see us looking at some significant topics in addition to our annual uprating:

The <u>Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru etc. Act 2013</u> requires the Commission to consider resettlement payments for those elected members who lose their seats at an election, and brief colleagues in the Welsh Government on what we think would be an appropriate payment scheme.

We will be reviewing the framework for how senior roles are remunerated in principal councils and corporate joint committees to ensure that it remains fit for purpose and make changes where appropriate.

We will be looking at the measure we use to decide the annual uprating of remuneration levels to assess whether or not it remains the most relevant index for us to use, and to reassess members workloads.

In all of these things, we will consult with and take account of the views of the Welsh Local Government Association and other stakeholders before making any decisions.

This draft report is now published for consultation. We welcome any comments on either the detail of our proposed determinations or any other relevant areas you think we should consider.

The consultation period ends on 18 November 2025. You can send us your comments in writing or by email. Your views are important to us, and everything you send us will be considered as we shape our final determinations, which we aim to publish in our annual report by the end of 2025.

Beverley Smith

Chair

Chapter 1. Introduction

- 1. The Commission has taken on the functions of the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW). We are mindful of the past work of the IRPW and thank them for their legacy report¹.
- 2. We plan to make substantive changes to the remuneration framework only once in each electoral cycle. The report prior to each local government election will give consideration to major changes to the framework, with those in between focusing on annual uprating. This means that this draft report for 2026-27 considers uprating amounts where appropriate but leaves the framework unchanged. The next report, for 2027-28, which we are required to publish by the end of February 2027, will update the framework for those members who will be elected at the May 2027 local elections.
- 3. The Welsh Government's remit letter for 2025–26 outlines several key objectives for the Commission regarding remuneration:
 - To assess the potential need for resettlement payments and support officials with briefing materials for any related regulatory considerations.
 - To revisit the Framework and Methodology for Remuneration of Senior Roles across Principal Councils and Corporate Joint Committees.
 - To examine the current benchmark linked to the Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings, alongside an evaluation of members' workloads.

Resettlement payments

- 4. The Welsh Government has asked us to consider what payments, if any, principal councils should make to councillors who stand for re-election but are unsuccessful. We will need to balance the needs of elected members as they move away from being a councillor against the budgets of councils, taking account if appropriate of those receiving sums from senior roles within their council.
- 5. If the Commission determines that a resettlement payment scheme should be established, it is anticipated that the Welsh Government would lay regulations for this to be in place for the 2027 local elections.

Senior roles

6. The Commission will be surveying authorities, their members and representative bodies to ascertain whether the current framework of remuneration for those with senior roles appropriately recognises the time commitment and responsibilities of those roles. We will include any determination to follow from this research in our annual report for 2027-28.

Community and town councils (CTC)

7. The IRPW had previously simplified the reporting requirements for CTCs to encourage members to accept allowances to which they are entitled, and work will continue to monitor the impact of this.

¹ Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales: legacy report | GOV.WALES

Corporate Joint Committees (CJC)

- 8. CJCs are a relatively new type of body. Each of the four committees are made up the leaders of the principal councils within its area and the chair of any national park authority that lies wholly or partly within its boundary. These leaders are in receipt of remuneration for their role within their respective bodies.
- 9. Each committee has established a number of sub-committees to deal with specialist areas and in one instance a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee. These are made up of councillors and co-opted members.
- 10. The Commission will consult on whether any additional remuneration is appropriate to reflect the additional time commitment and responsibilities relating to CJCs, and include any determination in its 2027-28 annual report.

Co-opted and lay members

- 11. The IRPW last uprated the remuneration of co-opted members of principal councils, national park authorities (NPA) and fire and rescue authorities (FRA) in its 2022 annual report² and included lay members of corporate joint committees (CJC) in its 2024 supplementary report³. The rates were linked to the public appointment rates paid by Welsh Government, which have not been uprated in some years.
- 12. Welsh Government have begun a review of these rates and the Commission will consider the outcome of that review before making any determination in respect of co-opted and lay members of relevant authorities.

Link with the Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE)

13. The Commission will consider whether it continues to be appropriate for remuneration to be linked with the Office for National Statistics data from the Welsh element of their Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings.

Engagement

14. We will continue the Panel's engagement with the Welsh Local Government Association, One Voice Wales, the Society of Local Council Clerks, and the North & Mid Wales Association of Local Councils as the representative bodies across the local government family, as well as individual authorities, and consider their views in reaching our determinations, whilst continuing to take account of the impact of our decisions on the budgets of authorities.

² Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales: annual report 2021 to 2022 | GOV.WALES

³ Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales: review of remuneration for lay members of corporate joint committees | GOV.WALES

Chapter 2. Determinations for 2026-27

Determination 1/2026: Basic salary for elected members of principal councils

- 15. The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, regulatory and related functions of local governance. It is based on a full time equivalent of 3 days a week. The Commission has reviewed this time commitment, and no changes are proposed for 2026-27.
- 16. The Commission is fully aware of the current constraints on public funding and the impact its decisions will have on the budgets of principal councils. The Commission is also mindful of our aims and objectives to provide a fair and reasonable remuneration package to support elected members and to encourage diversity of representation.
- 17. The Commission has determined that for the financial year 1 April 2026 to 31 March 2027 it is right to retain the link between the basic salary of councillors and the average salaries of their constituents. The basic salary will be aligned with three fifths of the all-Wales 2024 ASHE⁴, the latest figure available at the time of writing. The basic salary will be £21,044, an increase of 6.4% on 2025-26.

Determination 2/2026: Salaries paid to senior, civic and presiding members of principal councils

- 18. All senior salaries include the basic salary payment. The different levels of additional responsibility of and between each role is recognised in a banded framework. No changes to banding are proposed this year.
- 19. The basic pay element will be uplifted in line with ASHE and the same uplift will also apply to the role element of Bands 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, giving all roles a 6.4% increase.
- 20. The salary of a leader of the largest (Group A) council will therefore be £78,917. All other payments have been determined with reference to this and are set out in Tables 1 and 2 below.

-

⁴ Annual survey of hours and earnings: 2024 [HTML] | GOV.WALES

Table 1: salaries payable to basic, senior, civic and presiding members of principal councils

Description	Amount
Group A	
Band 1 leader	£78,917
Band 1 deputy leader	£55,242
Band 2 executive member	£47,350
Group B	
Band 1 leader	£71,025
Band 1 deputy leader	£49,717
Band 2 executive member	£42,615
Group C	
Band 1 leader	£67,079
Band 1 deputy leader	£46,955
Band 2 executive member	£40,247
All principal councils	
Basic salary	£21,044
Band 3 committee chair (if paid)	£31,567
Band 4 leader of the largest opposition group	£31,567
Band 5 leader of other political groups (if paid) and deputy civic head	£25,253
Civic head (if paid)	£31,567
Deputy civic head (if paid)	£25,253
Presiding member (if paid)	£31,567
Deputy presiding member (basic only)	£21,044

Table 2: Council groups by population

Group A Population over 200,000	Group B Population 100,000 to 200,000	Group C Population up to 100,000
Cardiff Rhondda Cynon Taf Swansea	Bridgend Caerphilly Carmarthenshire Conwy Flintshire Gwynedd Newport Neath Port Talbot Pembrokeshire Powys Vale of Glamorgan Wrexham	Blaenau Gwent Ceredigion Denbighshire Isle of Anglesey Merthyr Tydfil Monmouthshire Torfaen

There are no further changes to the payments and benefits paid to elected members.

Determination 3/2026: Salaries for Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC) members

- 21. The salary of a chair of a JOSC will continue to be aligned to Band 3 and will be set at £10,522.
- 22. The salary of a vice-chair is set at 50% of the Chair and will be £5,261.
- 23. There are no other changes in this area.

Determination 4/2026: Payments to NPA and FRA members

- 24. The 3 national parks in Wales; Eryri, Pembrokeshire Coast and Bannau Brycheiniog, were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide recreation opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the creation of a NPA for each park. NPAs comprise members who are either elected members nominated by the principal councils within the national park area or are members appointed by the Welsh Government through the public appointments process. Welsh Government appointed and council nominated members are treated equally in relation to remuneration.
- 25. The three FRAs in Wales; Mid and West Wales, North Wales and South Wales were formed as part of Local Government re-organisation in 1996. FRAs comprise elected members who are nominated by the principal councils within each fire and rescue service area.
- 26. In line with the Commission's decision to increase the basic salary of elected members of principal councils, the remuneration level for ordinary members of both NPAs and FRAs is also increased in line with ASHE.
- 27. The remuneration for chairs will remain linked to a principal council Band 3 senior salary. Their role element will increase accordingly. Deputy chairs, committee chairs and other paid senior posts will remain linked to a Band 5. Full details of the levels of remuneration for members of NPAs and FRAs is set out in Table 3.

Table 3: Payments to NPA and FRA members

NPAs	Amount
Basic salary for ordinary member	£5,936
Chair	£16,458
Deputy chair (where appointed)	£10,144
Committee chair or other senior post	£10,144
FRAs	Amount
FRAs Basic salary for ordinary member	Amount £2,968
1 1 2 1 2	711110 01111
Basic salary for ordinary member	£2,968

28. Other than the above increases, there are no changes proposed this year.

Determination 5/2026: Co-opted members of principal councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities and lay members of Corporate Joint Committees

29. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay their co-opted members who have voting rights fees at the rates in Table 4 below.

- 30. All determinations in this section that relate to co-opted members will apply equally to CJC lay members with voting rights from 31 July 2024.
- 31. The appropriate officer within the authority must set in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full or half day. When the meeting is set for a full day, the fee will be paid on this basis even if the meeting finishes within 4 hours.
- 32. The Commission has determined there should be local flexibility for the appropriate officer to decide when it will be appropriate to apply a day or a half day rate or to use an hourly rate where it is sensible to aggregate a number of short meetings.

Table 4: Fees for co-opted and lay members (with voting rights)

Role	Hourly rate payment	Up to 4 hours payment rate	4 hours and over payment rate
Chairs of standards, and audit committees	£33.50	£134	£268
Lay chairs of CJCs	£33.50	£134	£268
Ordinary Members of Standards Committees who also chair Standards Committees for Community and Town Councils	£29.75	£119	£238
Ordinary lay members of CJCs	£29.75	£119	£238
Ordinary Members of Standards Committees; Education Scrutiny Committee; Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Committee and Audit Committee	£26.25	£105	£210
Community and Town Councillors sitting on Principal Council Standards Committees	£26.25	£105	£210

Determination 6/2026: Payments to community and town council (CTC) members

- 33. CTCs can opt to pay financial loss compensation to their members, where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties. The Commission has determined to maintain the alignment with the daily rate of ASHE as follows:
 - Up to £67.45 for each period not exceeding 4 hours.
 - Up to £134.90 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours.
- 34. Other than this change to the financial loss compensation, no changes are made to payments to CTC members. Remuneration is due as set out in Tables 5 and 6 below.

Table 5: Extra costs payment (per group) for all members of CTCs

Type of payment	Group 1	Group 2 and 3	Group 4 and 5
Extra costs payment	Mandatory £156 for all members	Mandatory £156 for all members	Mandatory £156 for all members
Senior role	Mandatory £500 for 1 member; optional for up to 7	Mandatory £500 for 1 member; optional up to 5	Optional up to 3 members
Mayor or chair	Optional up to a maximum of £1,500	Optional up to a maximum of £1,500	Optional up to a maximum of £1,500
Deputy mayor or chair	Optional up to a maximum of £500	Optional up to a maximum of £500	Optional up to a maximum of £500

Attendance allowance	Optional up to a	Optional up to a	Optional up to a	
	maximum of £30	maximum of £30	maximum of £30	
Financial loss	Optional	Optional	Optional	
Travel and subsistence	Optional	Optional	Optional	
Costs of care or	Mandatory	Mandatory	Mandatory	
personal assistance	Manuatory	Manuatory	Manuatory	
	Mandatory £52 or full	Mandatory £52 or full	Mandatory £52 or full	
Office consumables	reimbursement for all	reimbursement for all	reimbursement for all	
	members	members	members	

Table 6: CTC groups by electorate

Group	Electorate	
1	over 14,000	
2	2 10,000 to 13,999	
3	5,000 to 9,999	
4	4 1,000 to 4,999	
5	below 1,000	

If the annual income or expenditure of a community or town council permanently exceeds £200,000, they will be moved to the next largest group.

Chapter 3. Summary of determinations for 2026-27

1/2026

35. The basic salary for elected members of principal councils is set at £21,044.

2/2026

36. The salary of a leader of the largest (Group A) council will be £78,917. All other payments have been determined with reference to this and are set out in Table 1.

3/2026

37. The salary of a chair of a JOSC will be set at £10,522. The salary of a vice-chair will be £5,261.

4/2026

38. The basic pay of NPA and FRA members has been increased as set out in Table 3.

5/2026

39. The fees for co-opted members of principal councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities and lay members of Corporate Joint Committees are set out in Table 4.

6/2026

- 40. The optional financial loss compensation for CTC members is increased to:
 - up to £67.45 for each period not exceeding 4 hours
 - up to £134.90 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 24 hours
- 41. All other payments to members of CTCs are unchanged from previous years.

Chapter 4. Current determinations from previous years

42. The following determinations are unchanged from previous years, but are restated here for completeness.

Salaries payable to senior, civic and presiding members of Principal Councils

43. The limit on the number of senior salaries payable, known as the cap, remains in place. This is set out in Table 7 below.

Table 7: Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior salary

Council	Group	Number of councillors	Maximum senior salaries payable
Cardiff	Α	79	19
Rhondda Cynon Taf	Α	75	19
Swansea	Α	75	19
Bridgend	В	51	18
Caerphilly	В	69	18
Carmarthenshire	В	75	18
Conwy	В	55	18
Flintshire	В	67	18
Gwynedd	В	69	18
Neath Port Talbot	В	60	18
Newport	В	51	18
Pembrokeshire	В	60	18
Powys	В	68	18
Vale of Glamorgan	В	54	18
Wrexham	В	56	18
Blaenau Gwent	С	33	16
Ceredigion	С	38	17
Denbighshire	С	48	17
Isle of Anglesey	С	35	17
Merthyr Tydfil	С	30	15
Monmouthshire	С	46	17
Torfaen	С	40	17

Group A councils: population over 200,000 Group B councils: population 100,000 to 200,000 Group C councils: population up to 100,000

Restrictions on senior post remuneration

- 44. Posts within the principal council (Determination 7 of 2022)
 - An elected member must not be remunerated for more than 1 senior post within their authority.
 - An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary.
 - All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary.
 - If a council chooses to have more than 1 remunerated deputy leader, the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other executive members should be

divided by the number of deputy leaders and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader.

Restrictions on payment for posts outside the principal council

- 45. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been appointed.
- 46. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance from the NPA or FRA. (Determination 8 of 2022)
- 47. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 salary cannot receive any payment from a community or town council of which they are a member. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance from the community or town council. Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to comply. (Determination 9 of 2022)

Support to elected members of principal councils

- 48. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all its elected members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members should be provided with adequate telephone, email and internet facilities giving electronic access to appropriate information. (Determination 10 of 2022)
- 49. Such support should be without cost to the individual member. Deductions must not be made from members' salaries by the respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of members. (Determination 11 of 2022)

Specific or additional senior salaries and assistants to the executive

- 50. Principal councils can apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current Framework (Determination 12 of 2022).
- 51. The Commission will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, for assistants to the executive (Determination 13 of 2022).
- 52. Guidance to local authorities on the application process was issued in April 2014.

Local Government Pension Scheme

53. The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils (Determination 16 of 2022).

Family absence provisions for elected members of principal councils

- 54. In this section, "family absence" refers to maternity, newborn, adoption and parental absences from official business.
- 55. These different categories are defined in <u>The Family Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013</u>. The Welsh Government has published guidance on the different kinds of absence at <u>Absence from local authority meetings</u>: family absence [HTML]| GOV.WALES.
- 56. An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family absence under the original regulations or any amendment to the regulations irrespective of the attendance

- record immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence. (Determination 17 of 2022)
- 57. When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, they will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the absence. (Determination 18 of 2022)
- 58. It is a matter for the authority to decide whether to make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary if the authority so decides. (Determination 19 of 2022)
- 59. If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the IRPW's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. However, this will not apply to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council if it would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such circumstances. (Determination 20 of 2022)
- 60. Isle of Anglesey County Council was included in Determination 20 of 2022, but subsequent changes to the number of councillors for Isle of Anglesey County Council made its inclusion in this exception unnecessary.
- 61. When a council agrees a paid substitution for family absence the Commission must be informed within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration of the substitution (Determination 21 of 2022).
- 62. The council's schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the implication of the family absence (Determination 22 of 2022).

Sickness absence payments for senior salary holders of principal councils

63. The framework provides arrangements for long term sickness absence for senior salary holders. These arrangements are set out in the Annex to this report.

Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs)

- 64. The payment of contribution to costs of care and travel and subsistence for CJC related activities has applied to all members of CJCs since 2022.
- 65. Payments to CJC co-opted lay members are covered below under the heading Co-opted Members of Principal councils, NPA and Fire and Rescue Authorities and lay members of Corporate Joint Committees.

Payments to National Parks Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities

- 66. Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary (Determination 27 of 2022).
- 67. A NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary (Determination 28 of 2022).
- 68. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed. Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to comply (Determination 29 of 2022).
- 69. Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary (Determination 34 of 2022).
- 70. An FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary and must reflect significant and sustained responsibility (Determination 35 of 2022).
- 71. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated. Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to comply (Determination 36 of 2022).

Co-opted members of principal councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities and lay members of Corporate Joint Committees

- 72. Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting is to be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the daily rate). (Determination 39, 2022)
- 73. Fees must be paid for meetings and other activities including other committees and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to attend. (Determination 41 of 2022)
- 74. Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is to be included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting (Determination 5 of 2023).
- 75. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee or other appropriate committee, must ensure that all voting co-opted members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. Such support should be without cost to the individual member (Determination 42 of 2022).
- 76. Co-opted and lay members of relevant authorities with voting rights are also able to claim travel, subsistence, care and personal assistance payments as set out in the sections below.

Travel and subsistence expenses

- 77. The rates of reimbursement of mileage, other travel costs and subsistence costs that can be claimed by members of principal councils, NPAs, FRAs, and their co-opted members, and to members of CJCs and their lay members is set out below.
- 78. Community and Town Councils can opt to reimburse travel and or subsistence costs. Where the option to reimburse has been made, this must be as specified in the Travel and subsistence guidance.

Mileage costs

79. Reimbursement must be at the current HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) rates.5

Other travel costs

80. All other claims for travel, including by taxi if this is the only or most appropriate method of transport, must only be reimbursed on actual cost as shown on receipts.

Subsistence costs

- 81. The maximum rates for subsistence payments are set out below on the basis of receipted claims:
 - £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast where not provided
 - £200 London overnight
 - £95 elsewhere overnight
 - £30 staying with friends and or family overnight

⁵ <u>Travel — mileage and fuel rates and allowances - GOV.UK</u>

Costs of Care and Personal Assistance Payments

- 82. All relevant authorities must provide a payment towards necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs as follows:
 - formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales or equivalent) care costs to be paid as evidenced
 - informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate equivalent to the Real Living Wage hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation⁶ at the time the costs are incurred
- 83. This must be for the additional costs incurred by members to enable them to carry out official business or approved duties. Each authority must ensure that any payments made are appropriately linked to official business or approved duty. Payment shall only be made on production of receipts from the care provider (Determination 43 of 2022).

Community and town councils

- 84. The Panel has determined that from September 2024, reporting returns due from all community and town councils need only show the total amounts paid in respect of the mandatory payments mentioned above. That is the £156 contribution to the costs of working from home and the £52 set rate consumables allowance and the travel and subsistence expenses paid. This brings these in line with the reporting of the costs of care and personal assistance allowances. (Determination 8 of 2024)
- 85. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary from a principal council (that is leader, deputy leader or executive member) cannot receive any payment from any community or town council, other than travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance. (Determination 53 of 2022)
- 86. Community and town councils can decide to reimburse their members in respect of travel and or subsistence costs for attending approved duties. Where the option to reimburse has been made, the Travel and subsistence expenses guidance must be applied. (Determination 46 and 47 of 2022)

-

⁶ What is the real Living Wage? | Living Wage Foundation

Annex: sickness absence payments for senior salary holders of principal councils

The Commission's framework provides arrangements for long term sickness absence for senior salary holders as follows:

- Long term sickness is defined as certified absences in excess of 4 weeks.
- The maximum length of sickness absence within these proposals is 26 weeks or until the individual's term of office ends, whichever is sooner (but if reappointed any remaining balance of the 26 weeks will be included).
- Within these parameters a senior salary holder on long term sickness can, if the authority decides, continue to receive remuneration for the post held.
- It is a decision of the authority whether to make a substitute appointment, but the substitute will be eligible to be paid the senior salary appropriate to the post.
- If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries payable for that authority, as set out in the Annual Report, an addition will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. (However, this would not apply to Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council if it would result in more than 50% of the membership receiving a senior salary. It would also not apply in respect of a council executive member if it would result in the cabinet exceeding 10 posts, the statutory maximum).
- When an authority agrees a paid substitution, the Commission must be informed within 14 days of the decision of the details including the specific post and the estimated length of the substitution. The authorities' Schedule of Remuneration must be amended accordingly.
- It does not apply to elected members of principal councils who are not senior post holders as they continue to receive basic salary for at least 6 months irrespective of attendance and any extension beyond this timescale is a matter for the authority.

What happens next

All observations on these draft determinations should be sent to:

Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru 4th Floor Welsh Government Building Cathays Park Cardiff CF10 3NQ

Or by email to:

remuneration@dbcc.gov.wales

no later than 18 November 2025.

For further information on remuneration and the determination process please refer to the Commission webpage: www.dbcc.gov.wales